
1

NOTICE OF MEETING
EDUCATION, CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY PANEL

MONDAY, 5 SEPTEMBER 2016 AT 6.30 PM

CONFERENCE ROOM B - SECOND FLOOR, CIVIC OFFICES

Telephone enquiries to Lisa Gallacher 02392 834056
Email: lisa.gallacher@portsmouthcc.gov.uk

Membership

Councillor Will Purvis (Chair)
Councillor David Tompkins (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Ben Dowling

Councillor Paul Godier
Councillor Suzy Horton
Councillor Gemma New

Standing Deputies

Councillor Dave Ashmore
Councillor Ken Ellcome

Councillor Hannah Hockaday
Councillor Matthew Winnington

(NB This Agenda should be retained for future reference with the minutes of this meeting.)

Please note that the agenda, minutes and non-exempt reports are available to view online on 
the Portsmouth City Council website:  www.portsmouth.gov.uk

A G E N D A

1  Apologies for absence 

2  Declarations of Members' Interests 

3  Minutes of the previous meeting - 8 August 2016 (Pages 1 - 6)

RECOMMENDED that the minutes of the meeting held on 8 August 2016 
are confirmed and signed as a correct record. 



2

4  A review into how well Portsmouth City Council and partners are 
preventing and dealing with child sexual exploitation 

The following witnesses will be attending to speak and answer questions from 
the panel:

 Gemma Green, Portsmouth Abuse and Rape Counselling Service 
(PARCS) (Annual Report at pages 7 - 24). 

 Chantelle Lemmon, Social Worker, Portsmouth City Council 
 Helen Saunders, Youth Justice Officer, Portsmouth City Council 

Members of the public are now permitted to use both audio visual recording devices and social 
media during this meeting, on the understanding that it neither disrupts the meeting or records 
those stating explicitly that they do not wish to be recorded. Guidance on the use of devices at 
meetings open to the public is available on the Council's website and posters on the wall of the 
meeting's venue.



 
 

 
1 

 

EDUCATION, CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE SCRUTINY PANEL 
 
Minutes of the meeting of the Education, Children & Young People Scrutiny 
Panel held on Monday, 8 August 2016 at 6.30 pm at the Civic Offices, 
Portsmouth 
 

Present 
 

 Councillor Will Purvis (in the Chair) 
 David Tompkins 

Ben Dowling 
Paul Godier 
Suzy Horton 
 
Also present - Councillor Ryan Brent observing as 
Cabinet Member for Children's Social Care.  
 
Officers 
Alison Jeffery, Director of Children's Services  
 
Witnesses 
Lucy Rylatt, Portsmouth Safeguarding Children Board 
Business Manager, Portsmouth City Council 
Detective Superintendent Vicky Dennis, Hampshire 
Police 

 
53. Apologies for absence (AI 1) 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Gemma New.  
Apologies for lateness were received from Councillor Purvis.   
 

54. Declarations of Members' Interests (AI 2) 
 
Councillor Godier declared a personal interest as his sister in law works for 
the Youth Offending Team.   
 

55. Minutes of Previous Meeting - 19 July 2016 (AI 3) 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Education, Children and Young 
People Scrutiny Panel held on 19 July 2016 be confirmed and signed as 
a correct record.  
 

56. A review into how well Portsmouth City Council and partners are 
preventing and dealing with child sexual exploitation (AI 4) 
 
The vice chair invited everyone to introduce themselves which they then did.  
He particularly welcomed the witnesses to the meeting and invited them both 
to give a brief introduction of their work.   
 
(a) Lucy Rylatt, Business Manager, Portsmouth Safeguarding Children Board.  
 



 
2 

 

Lucy explained that in April 2011, PSCB recognised children at risk of CSE as 
one of the vulnerable groups that should be prioritised in their Business Plan. 
Between January 2012 and March 2015 there was a 4LSCB Strategy Group 
which coordinated the work of Police, Health and the Local Authority across 
Hampshire, Portsmouth, Southampton and Isle of Wight.  
The PSCB also established its own CSE Strategy Group to oversee the work 
of agencies in Portsmouth to ensure there was sufficient cooperation locally. It 
used the learning that was happening operationally to develop a CSE Risk 
Assessment Toolkit designed to best measure risk as well as support 
practitioners in this process. 
In March 2015 the 4LSCB MET Strategic Group was disbanded as each area 
had now developed their own groups and this was seen as a duplication. The 
Portsmouth CSE Group broadened its remit in response to this to include 
oversight of the issues arising from children who go missing from home or 
care and those who may be trafficked. Partners in the PSCB MET Group 
include Children's Social Care, Hampshire Constabulary, Portsmouth CCG, 
Solent NHS Trust, probation, education representative, Portsmouth Abuse 
and Rape Counselling Service (PARCS) and Barnardos.   
 
There is a CSE risk assessment tool which is based on best practice and is 
well recognised and there is a toolkit to accompany this. Southampton, 
Hampshire and IoW use the SERAF tool but Portsmouth decided to develop 
its own which is easier to explain.  
 
The PSCB has developed a number of workshops during 2016.  Two CSE 
and Trafficking workshops were held in January and February with 22 
attendees on each, targeting key professionals.  Since March an online CSE 
module has been made available and a Missing, Exploited & Trafficking 
training session had been embedded into the PSCB Training Programme. Up 
to July 2016 128 practitioners had been through workshops or online training 
on MET.  The PSCB training programme offers a safeguarding training 
pathway for people working directly with children and parents to develop their 
skills and knowledge and also ensure that specialist areas are covered 
through workshops and seminars. 
 
The MET operational group meets regularly and social workers attend this, 
along with police officer, Barnardo's and education services. At this group they 
review the children identified as high, medium or low risk of CSE and ensure 
they have consistency across these children identified. The group then 
focuses on ensuring sufficient and robust safety plans are in place for those 
children at high risk and those at medium risk that are nearing high risk. The 
risk assessment tool is then used along with other data to assess whether the 
work they are doing is being effective in terms of identifying at risk children.  
Date includes a number of targets  
 
Lucy explained that the MET strategy is embedded and runs from April 2016 
to March 2019.  It is based around five pillars for effective scrutiny: 

 Scrutiny and oversight 

 Understand and Identify 

 Prevention 

 Intervention and Support  



 
3 

 

 Disruption and justice.  
 
The PSCB are now looking at training up the night time economy workforce in 
CSE.  Hampshire Constabulary informed them of Operation Makesafe which 
is a campaign led by the metropolitan police that was rolled out in the London 
boroughs to raise awareness of CSE in the business community including 
hotels, taxi companies and licensed premises.  The team are working with the 
licensing department within the council and have created an event on 26 and 
27 September which is being held in Portsmouth Guildhall.  There will be 6 
workshops held over the two days, one and a half hour taster sessions to train 
on what CSE is, what the warning signs are that might help them identify a 
child who may be being groom and what to do if they become aware of a 
vulnerable child.   Lucy circulated to members a collection of posters from the 
Make Safe campaign that can be displayed one for children's care homes, 
one for taxis, one for licensed premises , one for hotels.  Copies will be 
available for all attendees of the event in September and Lucy advised that 
following the event she would provide an update for the panel on how 
successful the event was. There already has been some success stories 
following the introduction of operation Make Safe in the area.  An example 
included someone reporting to the police a 14 year old girl in a hotel drinking 
champagne with a man, which the police followed up and it transpired the 
child was a person at risk and the police intervened.   
 
Previously Barnardo's and PSCB tried contacting taxi drivers to offer them 
training on CSE however the take-up of this was very poor. The team are 
therefore working with the licensing officers, who have a good relationship 
with taxi drivers, to promote the training and use a firm but gentle pressure, 
and they are hopeful that there will be more of a positive response.  
 
In response to questions, the following points were clarified: 

 It is becoming more common for local authorities to make CSE training 
mandatory for taxi drivers, before they are granted their licence.  
Councillor Godier said that he and a couple of other councillors on the 
panel are also on the council's licensing committee and felt that this 
was something that was very important and should be discussed with 
the licencing chair and officers.  Lucy said that following the event in 
September once the response to the training is known, this is 
something that could be perused, and she would provide the panel with 
information on number of taxi drivers who attended etc. following the 
event. Members of the public would be unlikely to see these posters as 
it was thought the organisations would put these posters on their staff 
noticeboards etc.  Councillor Godier said it would be useful to have a 
poster for residential tower blocks and Lucy said she would look to put 
something together for these locations.  

 There have been a range of different attendees who have attended the 
workshops so far across a range of agencies, including social workers, 
school staff, a couple of neighbourhood police officers and health 
colleagues.  

 In June there were 2 high risk children, 33 medium risk children and 23 
low risk children in Portsmouth.  These numbers are fairly common.  



 
4 

 

 There has been a very good response toward the training sessions on 
CSE and trafficking.  PSCB is doing a piece of work looking at which 
schools are registering for training online and cross referencing this 
with schools where with pupils identified at risk of CSE.   

 Hampshire Constabulary has worked with all four safeguarding boards.  
The Alice in Wonderland CSE campaign was launched in June this 
year and rolled out to all secondary schools and colleges in Hampshire.  
The aim of the diary is to raise awareness of the signs of child sexual 
exploitation and help readers recognise the signs in a friend or family 
member. This diary is linked to the Hampshire Constabulary child 
sexual exploitation campaign and is aimed at children aged 12-16.   

 Lucy advised that it is difficult to monitor the effectiveness of the Alice 
campaign and haven't yet had feedback as only started in June.  Also 
Chelsea's choice which was a drama delivered in schools which shows 
an example of a young girl being groomed and highlighted the signs to 
look for.  The PSCB can offer support to schools on CSE but they do 
not have the right to go into schools to give talks to students etc.  
Detective Superintendent Dennis added that Alice's blog will be revived 
again in September once children return to school and will be aimed at 
year 7 pupils in particular as they may be more vulnerable as they are 
in a new school meeting new friends etc.  The campaign will continue 
until the end of the year.  The posters shown earlier from the Operation 
Makesafe campaign have also been distributed to schools by 
Hampshire Constabulary to support the Alice campaign and the PSCB 
Missing, Exploited & Trafficked Strategy. 

 Detective Superintendent Dennis advised that the neighbourhood 
policing teams are very proactive and police have been into a number 
of hotels where it has been drawn to their attention there may be 
children at risk, and the level of success has been phenomenal.  

 
(b) Detective Superintendent Vicky Dennis, Hampshire Constabulary  
Detective Superintendent Dennis explained that her role is head of public 
protection and she is the force strategic and tactical lead for CSE. She is 
also the chair of the MET strategic group and is either the chair or a 
member of the MET strategic groups for Hampshire and Isle of Wight.   
 
About 18 months/2 years ago the government realised that CSE is a 
national threat and it is now part of the Strategic Policing Requirement. . 
Hampshire SE regional group constantly looking at threats to Hampshire 
and IoW and over the last two years CSE has scored as one of the 
greatest threats and is currently a force priority.   
 
There is a big gap in identifying emerging victims and perpetrators 
particularly in respect of  hard to reach groups include the BME, travellers, 
blind and deaf children and home educated children. The police are 
working towards how to work with these groups.  It was anticipated that 
towards the end of the year there would be a plan in place to ensure 
greater inclusion with hard to reach groups.   
 
Detective Superintendent Dennis said that she didn't have the data to 
hand she would like to be able to identify children and show that the risk is 



 
5 

 

reducing.  She is doing a lot of work to improve datasets and looking at 
different ways to extract data. 
 
Hampshire Constabulary is also looking to improve community partnership 
information intelligence sharing.  Information is obtained from Community 
Partnership Information CPI forms but the Police are not receiving 
intelligence from partner agencies.   It is very important to get health, 
education etc. data.  Hampshire Constabulary works very closely with the 
councils children social care team where there is good data sharing but 
need to ensure pull all data together including intelligence reported from 
councillors which is not currently being shared.  
 
In January the Police hosted  an intervene to protect child conference for 
police officers and all partner agencies including the voluntary sector  at St 
Mary's football stadium in Southampton which 500 people attended.  As it 
was impossible to get all police officers there due to their shift patterns, the 
conference was videoed and training is being provided to police officers/ 
staff who were unable to attend. Two weeks ago a member of the road 
policing unit stopped a perpetrator with a child in the car, which shows the 
importance of raising awareness amongst the road policing unit of CSE.  
 
The police are looking to extend the Make Safe Training to festivals, 
hospitals and custody centres.  A number of the CSE victims undertake 
low level crimes so it's important to give training to police officers so they 
can start identifying children  who might be at risk of CSE.    
 
In response to questions, the following matters were clarified: 

 There is a team within Hampshire constabulary looking at online 
risks of CSE and identifying potential perpetrators. Lucy Rylatt 
added that the board have an online safety group.  There was a 
recent PCC e-safety campaign 'Beware of Lurking Trolls!', aimed at 
raising awareness to children and young people of the dangers they 
face when online, using social media or mobile phones, which was 

very successful. An online safety officer has gone into children's 
centres to work with younger children to highlight the risks.  

 With regard to vigilantes, the police are aware of a number of online 
vigilantes who have provided information ,which led to  a successful 
prosecution and conviction last week.  

 There are no known CSE organised crime religious groups 
,however the police are aware of some gangs/groups operating 
together that the police are identifying and targeting.  Many of the 
drug gangs are exploiting children which can lead to CSE as they 
become reliant on drugs so the police are actively targeting drug 
gangs.  

 Child Sexual Exploitation  is the forces key priority and Detective 
Superintendent Dennis confirmed that the police are not bound by 
ethnicity etc.  

 The Police have intelligence of locations within Portsmouth where 
perpetrators are living.  

 The CSE Guardian Angels pilot ran by Hampshire Police, PCC and 
Barnado's that took place in Portsmouth last year is being evaluated 



 
6 

 

and Hampshire police are looking to roll this out across the force. 
The patrols consisted of police officers, Barnardo's workers and 
council social workers targeting areas of the city where it is known 
that children congregate such as outside parks or convenience 
stores. The idea is to engage with people and pass on information 
about CSE. The pilot was run from 7-9pm however following the 
evaluation it is recognised that this needs to run later in the evening.  

 The profile of perpetrators within Portsmouth is predominately 16-24 
year old white British males.  Detective Superintendent Dennis said 
she did not have specific details of perpetrators in Portsmouth , 
available at the meeting, but  was not aware of any offenders in the 
city of other ethnicities.  

 There is a crossover with the Healthy relationships campaign and 
CSE 

 There are only small numbers of trafficking cases in Portsmouth, 
compared to other port cities.  Hampshire constabulary are 
exploring options with border force colleagues to train them on 
CSE, as currently they are not trained and does not have a CSE 
team.   

 Hampshire Constabulary will be introducing a CSE perpetrator 
programme at the end of August and will be the first force in the 
country to do this. This will focus on 16-18 year olds who have not 
committed criminal offences but information has raised them of 
concern that they may go on to offend and are bordering on or 
linked to perpetrators. It will not be used for any person who has 
committed a criminal offence.  The programme will look at 
supporting these individuals to advise them that what they are doing 
could account to a criminal offence as currently there is not a lot of 
support available for child perpetrators.   

 With regard to victims, most are white British females aged between 
14-18 years.  There is a hidden issue with BME children but 
Hampshire Police are not aware of any BME victims in Portsmouth.  
Once of the things arising from the Alice campaign was they had 
not considered children who had not grown up in the UK who would 
not be familiar with Alice in Wonderland.  Hampshire Constabulary 
are actively engaging with communities to improve this.    

 There have been cases where former victims of CSE go on and 
become perpetrators.   

 Data sharing between agencies is a massive issue for Hampshire 
constabulary.  All 4 LSCB's have been asked what data they need 
and Detective Superintendent Dennis has compiles a list of data 
requirements and is looking at how a standard data system can be 
created.  She hoped that from the autumn improvements would be 
made.   

 
The meeting concluded at 7.45 pm. 
 

  

Councillor Will Purvis 
Chair 

 



1 
 

  

1981 - 2016 



2 
 

  

Contact Us  

 

Portsmouth Abuse and Rape Crisis Service (PARCS)  

PO Box 3  

Portsmouth  

Hants  

Po2 8RX 

 

Office: 023 9266 9513  

www.parcs.org.uk  

@PARCSRapecrisis 

 

Help Lines open Monday 1-3pm Wednesday and Friday 7-10pm  

Women’s Line 023 9266 9511 

Men’s Line 023 9266 9516    

 

 

 

 

 

Registered Charity: 1079950 

Company Limited by Guarantee 3643599  

 

 

All artwork has been created by individuals and groups who have accessed the services provided by PARCS 

unless otherwise stated. 

 

http://www.parcs.org.uk/


3 
 

. 

 

  

Contents 

Page 4  Our Mission Statement 

Page 4  Our Vision 

Page 5  Our Values 

Page 5  Why we do this work 

Page 7  Our Achievements April 2015 – March 2016 

Page 8  Counselling 

Page 9  Group Support 

Page 9  Beyond Trauma Group 

Page 10 Mutual Support and Drop In 

Page 11 Telephone Help Line 

Page 11 Emotional Telephone Support (ETS) 

Page 12 Prevention 

Page 13 The Bystander Approach – As a Model of Change 

Page 13 Didactic and Sustained Relational Approach 

Page 14 Counselling for Children and Young People 

Page 15 The Making Noise Project – Children’s Voices for Positive Change 

Page 15 Counselling for Survivors of Domestic Abuse 

Page 16 The Team 

Page 17 Community Profile 

Page 17 Thank you 

 



4 
 

“PARCS is an essential and major part of the processes involved that people who have been 

abused at any level need to go through to help them conquer and become survivors” 

(Survivor).    

Portsmouth Abuse and Rape Counselling Service (PARCS) was set up in 1981 by a group of 

women in response to a number of rapes in the city of Portsmouth. They were concerned 

that there were no services available to assist in the statutory or the non-statutory sectors. 

Since that time PARCS has grown to be a very effective charity working with survivors of 

rape and childhood sexual abuse and domestic abuse. Over the years there has been an 

increasing emphasis on working with women, men and young people who have suffered 

sexual abuse, often in childhood, and this trend is expected to continue. PARCS is highly 

regarded in the community, by those who we set out to service and also by other 

counsellors, the local authorities, health professionals, police, charities, the universities, 

schools and colleges.       

Our Mission Statement  

PARCS aims to prevent inter-personal abuse through its community based educational 

programme delivered to young people, parents, carers and professionals.  

PARCS also aims to address the impact of sexual abuse (no matter when the abuse took 

place) by providing specialist counselling, psychotherapy, group therapy and telephone help 

lines.   

Our Vision  

PARCS vision is:  

To continue to offer services in a way that makes them accessible regardless of age, 

disability, gender reassignment, relationship status, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 

or belief, sex and sexual orientation or any other factor 

To develop our team in a way that makes best use of their skills, abilities and to meet their 

ambitions and the co-operative culture of PARCS 

To further develop and deploy our preventative programmes in schools and other 

appropriate venues 

To extend our services in ways those are compatible with our objectives and in response to 

developments and demands in our community 

To provide specialist training, supervision, consultation and education to individuals, 

agencies and statutory organisations about the effects of abuse on individuals and the wider 

community 

To provide volunteering opportunities for women and men 



5 
 

To participate in inter-agency work via membership of, and regular input into, local multi-

agency community groups, forums and networking activities, including participating in 

presentations and training on service provision and issues of sexual and interpersonal 

trauma 

To build a strong research and evidence base for our practice 

Our Values  

PARCS core values include:  

Ensuring that the services we provide remain client-centred and responsive  

Being caring, compassionate and non-judgemental 

Aspiring to high levels of innovation and quality in everything we do   

Maintaining the highest levels of integrity and confidentiality   

Achieving good results for our clients, staff and stakeholders  

Why We Do This Work  

“It’s the only place I’m safe at this time” (Survivor). 

PARCS was established in 1981 in response to adult survivors of rape who were in need of 

practical and emotional support and were struggling to cope and recover in a culture of 

disbelief.  Initially we provided practical help by accompanying women to hospital 

appointments, police interviews and sitting with them on the rare occasion that a case went 

to court. We provided safe spaces in which women could talk about what had happened to 

them and begin the long and often complex journey of recovery. We also campaigned at a 

local and national level challenging attitudes and calling for changes in the law and the 

criminal justice system.    

Since those early days we have witnessed many changes in the law, the criminal justice 

system, police investigations and the public understanding of sexual abuse. In the 1980s it 

was commonly believed that rape was committed by strangers in dark alley ways and that 

children were most at risk from ‘stranger danger’. These stereotypical beliefs (alongside 

many others) discouraged survivors from coming forward, influenced reporting in the media 

and affected the verdicts of jurors.  Little responsibility was attributed to those who raped  

  



6 
 

and abused and survivors were often held responsible for the abuse perpetrated against 

them. Education and awareness raising campaigns have played a big part in challenging 

myths and changing attitudes.  

We have also seen the establishment of 

services including Sexual Abuse Referral 

Centres (SARC) such as Treetops based in 

Portsmouth and covering Hampshire, 

specialist police units such as Amberstone 

and the development of the Independent 

Sexual Violence Advocate  (ISVA) whose 

role is to support survivors who are 

thinking of reporting right through to trial.  

The Government’s latest Violence against 

Women and Girls Strategy 2016 – 2020 

continues to highlight the importance of 

education and specialist support. However, 

most people who work in this field 

recognise that there is still much work to 

be done.   

PARCS was one of the first Rape Crisis 

Centres to provide services to male 

survivors (over twenty years ago) and to 

establish an educational programme in schools (nineteen years ago) alongside a dedicated 

counselling service for young people. In 2014 we extended this service to include a service 

for children (aged five to ten years) and their non-abusive carer(s).  

PARCS has worked hard to maintain and develop 

provision in the face of increased demand and 

restricted resources. We continue to believe that it is 

important to offer choice through the provision of a 

range of services designed to meet the unique needs of 

survivors at different stages of their healing journey.  

“The survivor should still be consulted about her wishes 

and offered as much choice as is compatible with the 

preservation of safety” (Herman, J., L., (2001) Trauma 

and Recovery. London: Pandora). 

It is increasingly recognised that survivors of sexual 

abuse benefit from specialist support.   In a recent 

study Professor Marianne Hester from the University of 



7 
 

Bristol argued that specialist services are crucial to all victims/survivors in providing a 

mixture of counselling (as adult or child), support in court and practical help. She states that 

it is important that these specialist services provide a changing mixture of targeted support 

as and when survivors needs change for instance pre and post court.  Hester argues these 

services provide the only ‘safe space’ where support tends to be consistently positive.  

 

Specialist services use the skills of enabler, holder and mender underpinned by detailed 

knowledge and understanding of the specific impact of sexual abuse and how sexual abuse 

affects on individuals and families combined with a range of skills and roles within and 

across services. (Hester M., and Lilley S.J. (2015) More than Support to Court Bristol: 

University of Bristol and Northern Rock Foundation).  

Our Achievements April 2015 – March 2016 

Worked with 349 adult survivors of rape and sexual abuse, including child sexual 

exploitation and provided 4280 hours of counselling including assessments. 

Worked with 96 young people (aged 11 – 18 years) and provided 1378 hours of counselling 

including assessments. 

Worked with 30 children (aged 5 – 10 years) and provided 253 hours of counselling   

Worked with 23 parents and provided 167 hours of counselling  

The Young Persons’ Outreach Project has worked with 3512 young people  



8 
 

Counselling  

“Recovery can take place only within the context of relationships; it cannot occur in 

isolation” (Herman p 133). 

“It has helped me a lot. I have a great bond with my baby and I have started a new life” 

(Survivor). 

Since our establishment we have witnessed not only a significant increase in the number of 

people requesting specialist counselling but also an increase in complex mental health 

needs which are often compounded by poverty.  When our records began (2000/01) we had 

138 referrals compared with 573 in 2015/16.  This rise can only partly be explained by an 

increase in the range of services we provide. It is likely that ongoing campaigning and 

awareness of the prevalence of sexual abuse and rape and enabled more survivors to come 

forward and seek help.   

“PARCS is an essential and major part of the processes involved that people who have been 

abused at any level need to go through to help them conquer and become survivors” 

(Survivor). 

When working with survivors of abuse we take into account an individual’s history, personal 

relationships, community support and economic circumstances.  Where necessary, and in 

agreement with each survivor, we will liaise and signpost to other services. We also ensure 

that survivors have access to our group support and helplines where appropriate.  

Survivors of sexual abuse (particularly those who have recently disclosed are likely to be 

coping with a variety of symptoms and to begin with may need help in developing 

techniques to manage the high levels of distress associated with the process of disclosure. 

This process often involves connecting with thoughts and feelings and emotions that have 

been shut down for many years. Counselling needs to be appropriately paced and survivor 

centred in order that an individual is not overwhelmed and re-traumatised.  

“Counselling has been really good for me because I have learned strategies to cope with the 

abuse. I have learned to trust people and talk about things” (Survivor). 

We believe that short-term counselling is often inappropriate when working with a survivor 

who has a history of sexual abuse. This was echoed by the Alex Jay’s Independent Inquiry 

into Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham (1997 – 2013)   

“Both the Director of Public Health and two NHS Rotherham staff thought that local 

agencies should provide more consistent and longer term counselling” (p 77) 

PARCS currently uses the Clinical Outcome for Routine Evaluation (CORE) to measure the 

effectiveness of its counselling and psychotherapy for adults. We also measure the 

subjective distress caused by a traumatic event using the Impact of Event Scale (IES).  



9 
 

The self-report measure records levels of intrusion, avoidance and hyper-arousal. We also 

ask everyone who uses the service to complete an evaluation form when the work comes to 

an end. Survivors who accessed the service reported a decrease in their subjective levels of 

distress. The average CORE score at the beginning was 104 (severe level of distress) with an 

average ending score of 43.5 (mild level of distress).      

“I could not have managed to survive emotionally without the service you have provided. It 

has been a life saver for me. PARCS has been my magic wand. Thank you from the bottom of 

my soul” (Survivor). 

Group Support   

“Trauma isolates; the group 

re-creates a sense of 

belonging. Trauma shames 

and stigmatizes; the group 

bears witness and affirms. 

Trauma degrades the victim; 

the group exalts her. Trauma 

dehumanizes the victim, the 

group restores her humanity” 

(Herman, p 214). 

PARCS has developed a 

number of groups this 

includes a singing and percussion group (open to adult women and men), a weekly drop-

in/support group (open to adult women) and a pre-therapy group called ‘Beyond Trauma’ 

(open to adult women). Our holistic approach recognises that survivors are individuals who 

have different needs at different stages of their journey. We work with many survivors who 

because of their history of abuse and relationship betrayal understandably find it difficult to 

establish and sustain relationships. By developing a range of services individuals are able to 

engage with us in a number of different ways.    

Beyond Trauma Group 

 “It is good to have an opportunity to connect with other survivors” (Survivor).  

The group is facilitated by two experienced members of the PARCS team and is open to 

women who are on our waiting list. The group offers support and stabilisation to women 

who have approached the charity for counselling. It also provides opportunities to meet 

other survivors and tackles the isolation that often comes with abuse. The Beyond Trauma 

group also supports women in building and develop coping strategies and in preparing for 

counselling so that they can enter therapy with tools to help them cope and a better idea of 

what therapy is.  



10 
 

The initial group was evaluated in 2013 by Dr Nina Burrowes (ninaburrowes.com) who is a 

psychologist and researcher specialising in the psychology of rape and sexual abuse. Dr 

Burrowes interviewed several of the women who attended the group and reported a 

number of changes including a greater sense of belonging and a decrease in feelings of 

isolation, positive changes in self -perception, increased resilience, greater understanding of 

their behaviour (e.g. why they had not spoken out about the abuse) and increased feelings 

of safety. The women also reported feeling more prepared for therapy at the end of the 

group.  

“The sessions helped me to gain some tools and techniques to help me get on with my daily 

life and at hard times. I’ve made some friends. The group provides hope and light at the end 

of the tunnel” (Survivor). 

 Mutual Support and Drop In  

“Many survivors, especially those who endured prolonged, repeated trauma, recognise that 

the trauma has limited and distorted their capacity to 

relate to others”  (Herman p 234). 

“Before, I never met anyone who admitted they were an 

abuse victim. Being in a room full of others relieved my 

suicidal feelings and took away the loneliness” 

(Survivor). 

“I value people’s opinions and views. The truth and 

worth that comes with it is extremely important to me” 

(Survivor). 

PARCS provides a support and drop in group on a 

weekly basis at the Centre. It is open to adult women 

who are survivors of sexual abuse who have accessed 

(or continue to access) the services provided by PARCS.  

We have called it a ‘drop in’ group because women can access the group for as long as they 

feel is necessary and they do not need to stay for the full three hours each week. It is 

facilitated by two members of the staff team. They aim to encourage and empower group 

members to contribute and to say what topics and activities they would like to see included. 

The group provides a safe space where individuals can build their confidence by supporting 

each other and getting help from the PARCS team. The group also provides information 

about health and wellbeing, wider opportunities like education, training and fitness and 

access to a computer.    

The group has been running for a year and the membership is growing. The women have 

compiled (at their own suggestion) a leaflet for professionals and another for family and 

friends consisting of suggestions for how to support a survivor of abuse.  They have also 



11 
 

created ‘The Book of Helpful’, a leaflet of their own ‘top tips’ for coping with, amongst other 

things, anxiety and panic attacks and the desire to self-harm.  The leaflet has been made 

available to other survivors.  

“Sharing feelings has helped me realise my feelings are O.K. I am less easily 

triggered….Talking about my issues here is much easier-nobody invalidates my feelings. It 

has helped me with my social anxiety. I am less scared of people. I don’t feel like my 

experience is unique anymore, I thought I was the only person in the world who feels the way 

I do. Now I know there are others out there with similar experiences and sharing recovery 

with them is teaching me new coping skills” (Survivor). 

We plan to carry out a formal review of the group in Summer (2016) with the aim of 

continuing the group into the future; funding permitting. Below are the reflections of one of 

the facilitators after six months of working with the women in the group.    

“It has been a moving experience, working with this group and seeing the women gradually 

gaining confidence and supporting each other. A couple have already moved on and do not 

feel they need it now - but clearly appreciate the fact that it is just 'there' if they should need 

it in the future.  As well as finding their own voices in the group, there is also something 

poignant and inspiring about the women's desire to reach out to other survivors, via the 

materials they are producing, and to have a voice in the world.  This is a simple, low-cost, 

effective intervention model which helps survivors to move on with their lives and to learn 

new relational skills”(Facilitator).  

“By the time she leaves the group, she has learned 

that the trauma can be surrounded by active 

engagement with others; she is capable of being fully 

present in mutual relationships” (Herman p 235).  

Telephone Help Line  

The Help Line service is the oldest and most 

established part of the service. It is open three times 

a week. Alongside ongoing support the helpline also 

provides information and signposting and can be 

accessed by professionals, family and supporters.  

PARCS also takes a number of calls into the office. 

The service is currently open six days a week 

providing information and signposting.      

Emotional Telephone Support (ETS)  

“The calls have helped me so much to build my confidence. College people and my partner 

have noticed a vast improvement in me” (Survivor) 



12 
 

The Emotional Telephone Support (ETS) service was originally set up to provide support to 

survivors who were waiting for individual counselling and/or did not feel able or ready to 

access face to face counselling. 

It is open to adult survivors. Alongside those who (for a number of reasons) are unable to 

access face to face counselling we have prioritised individuals who have recently disclosed 

including reporting to the police because we know that this is a particularly stressful time 

for survivors. Following an initial assessment by a member to the team individuals are 

offered between 6 – 12 telephone sessions.     

Ongoing evaluation of the project using CORE and the IES has shown that those who’ve used 

the service valued the continuity of support (they speak to the same volunteer each week) 

and the specialist knowledge of those providing the service. Clients also reported positive 

changes in their heath and general well-being and decreased feelings of isolation and 

vulnerability.    

“The calls have been very helpful and supported me through a tough time” (Survivor). 

“A really good way to get the ball rolling for face to face counselling, building trust means it 

will be less scary when I come for counselling” (Survivor). 

Prevention  

 

“This is the best thing I’ve ever done. I’ll always remember this” (Student). 

PARCS launched its prevention programme nearly twenty years ago. The service aimed to 

challenge some of the myths associated with abuse and to promote our counselling service. 

Until four years ago (when we secured a grant from The Tudor Trust) the service was limited 

by funding. At that time we had 0.5 of a post covering the city of Portsmouth. Today we 

have two workers delivering the programme to young people aged thirteen years and 

above.  We recognise that conversations about sexual abuse are not easy and challenging its 

root causes is a complex process. This was acknowledged by the Independent Inquiry into 

Child Sexual Exploitation in Rotherham; 

“The young people we met in the course of the inquiry were scathing about sex education 

they received at school…They thought sex education was out of touch and needed to be 

updated” (Alex Jay 2014:  pg 71). 



13 
 

PARCS wanted to develop its existing ‘one off’ universal and didactic approach to prevention 

because we believed that this approach has limitations. There is a danger when using a 

more didactic delivery that the voices of young people are silenced because the facilitator is 

perceived as the expert.  We also wanted to develop a co-production approach to delivery. 

This approach draws upon the knowledge of everyone involved in a project. PARCS 

recognises that individuals and community groups will have their own ideas about the 

causes and consequences of sexual abuse, and we wanted to facilitate a space in which this 

knowledge could emerge. However, in order to facilitate this co-emergent process where 

various perspectives can be shared we needed to work with groups over a period of time; a 

sustained relational approach. This sustained relational approach is in turn supported by a 

model of change known as the Bystander Approach. (Banyard, V. L. et al (2007) Sexual 

Violence Prevention through Bystander Education Wiley: Periodicals Inc. Journal of 

Community Psychology 35: 463-481).  

The Bystander Approach – As a Model of Change  

In 2010 PARCS asked Dr Nina Burrowes (nina.burrowes.com) to undertake an explorative 

study into our existing education and prevention programme.  As part of her 

recommendations Dr Burrowes suggested using a Bystander approach as a theoretical 

model (Banyard et al 2007). The Bystander model has been associated with anti-bullying 

interventions in both primary and secondary schools.  

The Bystander model views the target audience as potential allies in preventing gender 

based violence and abuse and it challenges ‘bystanders’ to develop what have been called 

prosocial behaviours; behaviours that benefit others. We believe this approach is 

particularly relevant because it supports the notion that everyone can play an active role in 

ending sexual abuse. It also avoids ‘victim blaming’ whereby the survivor is held responsible 

for sexual assault because of the way they behaved or because of who they are. This model 

also positions boys and men as potential allies rather than alienating or marginalising them 

as perpetrators. The value of the Bystander approach has been acknowledged in the 

Government’s latest Ending Violence against Women and Girls Strategy (pg 38).  

Didactic and Sustained Relational Approach 

Alongside offering one off sessions covering issues such as the use of social media, consent 

and sexting we have continued to develop our targeted work working with groups of young 

people over a sustained period of time and using the Bystander model of change.  In the last 

year we have been developing our approach to meet the specific needs of young people 

who have a learning disability. We have also written and delivered a training programme for 

mentors. This is a new role within PARCS. The mentors will help us to deliver our prevention 

programme to more young people.    

 



14 
 

Counselling for Children and Young People  

“I can see what PARCS has done for him. This is the only place that helps children with 

counselling for abuse; thanks to all at PARCS” (Grandmother).   

PARCS counselling service for young people began nearly 

twenty years ago and in 2014 we began to offer a service for 

children aged 5 – 10 years alongside their non-abusive or safe 

parent/carer.  We established the service in response to 

demand from parents and professionals. The experience of 

sexual abuse is associated with a complex range of 

psychological and behavioural symptoms in both childhood and 

adulthood including post-traumatic stress, depression, suicide, 

sexualised behaviour and disrupted education. The impact of 

child sexual abuse may be heightened when the child’s 

experience of sexual abuse occurs within the context of other 

victimisation and exposure to early trauma including domestic 

abuse. (Finkelhor, D., Turner, H., Hornby, S., and Ormrod, R., 

(2011) Polyvictimization: Children’s Exposure to Multiple Types 

of Violence, Crime and Abuse. US Dpt. Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency 

Prevention).  

 

Our therapeutic approach is grounded in an understanding of trauma, attachment and 

resilience and rests upon an understanding of the responses to abuse including betrayal, 

powerlessness, shame and traumatic sexualisation. We see the relationship between the 

child/young person as a key element to bringing about change and we use a number of 

creative approaches in order to support a child/young person in working with, and 

containing, a range of feelings.  We also offer sessions to the safe parent/carer to help them 

process the impact of discovering that their child has been sexually abused and to support 

the child in their recovery.   



15 
 

Awareness of the existence and impact of sexual abuse in childhood has grown during the 

last twenty years and in recent years there has been much publicity surrounding a number 

of high profile cases of abuse by public figures alongside concern about child sexual 

exploitation. The Children’s Commissioner for England (2015) has also re-focused attention 

back to abuse that takes place within a ‘family context’ and perpetrated by a family 

member, or someone linked to the family. 

The Making Noise Project – Children’s Voices for Positive Change 

This year PARCS has contributed to The Making Noise Project. The 

project Making Noise: Children’s Voices for Positive Change after 

Sexual Abuse is focused on children and young people’s experience 

of help-seeking support after sexual abuse in the context of the 

family, or family home. The project is being led by the University of 

Bedfordshire and the NSPCC and has been commissioned by the 

Children’s Commissioner. Three young people who have accessed 

counselling with PARCS have taken part in the project. Taking part 

helps children and young people’s views be heard by professionals 

who make decisions about services. The report is yet to be published. 

Counselling for Survivors of Domestic Abuse  

“I have really felt glad to have had sessions with Natalie and get past the very dark time I 

went through I am very happy with all that has come out of these sessions and how it has 

helped me to cope with my situation in an extremely positive way” (Survivor). 

There is a growing recognition of the links between domestic abuse and mental ill-health, 

post-traumatic stress disorder and anxiety (Safelives.org.uk).  Whilst there are specialist 

crisis services which largely address external risk factors (e.g. through the provision of safe 

accommodation there is a lick of specialist trauma focused counselling which focuses on the 

legacy of psychological and emotional legacy of abuse.  

The provision of timely specialist counselling addresses relational trauma supports the 

development of self-esteem and self-advocacy and enables survivors to re-build and set 

appropriate and safe relational boundaries. PARCS has been providing a specialist service for 

over three years and have evidence from an undergraduate research project that the 

provision of specialist trauma focused counselling can support a victim in her/his recovery 

from domestic abuse disrupting repeating patterns of victimisation and enabling individuals 

to rebuild their lives.  

Domestic abuse often shatters an individual’s internal sense of safety and trust in others 

and the counselling provides a safe space in which to re-build trust and support 

independence. Survivors of domestic abuse are often forced into a ‘compliant’ role in order 

to survive abuse and individuals can begin the process of re-discovering their personal 



16 
 

power and sense of agency. This in turn, increases self-esteem and reduces the feelings of 

blame often associated with being a victim of abuse.  

The Team  

PARCS services are delivered by a team of paid staff who collectively have over sixty years’ 

experience of working with survivors of sexual and domestic abuse. They have worked in a 

variety of settings including the NHS, Social Care, Education and Local Authorities. All are 

committed to providing a high quality survivor centred service.  

PARCS is fortunate to have up to fifty volunteers supporting the service at any one time. This 

dedicated team bring a wealth of experience and a commitment to making a difference in 

their local community.  All volunteers have regular supervision and high quality training is 

available to them throughout the year.   

“A very supportive and professional organisation – a good balance between support and 

trust in your practice; feeling supported gives you confidence to work with clients and 

freedom to develop your own way of working” (Volunteer). 

“Supportive atmosphere, friendly staff, detailed/in-depth training and lots of practical advice 

and theoretical information” (Volunteer).  

In June 2015, one of our volunteer team, Karen 

Benac was awarded the title of Volunteer of the 

Year at the Portsmouth Inspiring Volunteer 

Awards event. The award ceremony coincided 

with Volunteers’ Week and followed on from a 

community initiative called ‘Portsmouth 

Together’. At that time, Karen, who still 

volunteers with the charity, had been a helpline 

volunteer with PARCS for seven years and said 

that. “volunteering is a wonderful thing to do. 

It’s important to give something back to the community and to bring hope and change to 

people’s lives”.   

The PARCS team would not be complete without our dedicated team of Trustees who lead 
the charity and use their skills and experience to help PARCS meet its aims and objectives.  

 

 

 

 



17 
 

Community Profile  

 

PARCS remains committed to raising the profile of the charity and the issues faced by 

survivors at a local and national level.  We attend a variety of forums locally and are an 

active member of The Survivors Trust. The PARCS team also attend a number of community 

events each year. PARCS recognises the importance of working in partnership with other 

organisations with the aim of improving services for survivors of abuse irrespective of when 

the abuse took place.  

PARCS is an organisational member of the British Association for Counselling and 

Psychotherapy, a full member of the Helpline Association and the Survivors Trust. We abide 

by The Survivors Trust National Standards.    

Thank you  

We are extremely appreciative of everyone who has supported 

the work of PARCS over the past year. It is only with their 

dedication and commitment that PARCS is able to continue to 

make a difference to the lives of survivors, their families and the 

wider community.  

Thank you to everyone who has made donations, organised 

events, sponsored fundraisers and helped repair our building.  

 



18 
 

Wonderful Windows Diocese of Portsmouth  
 

Clare 

Shaw Swanton  
 

Southsea Sangha  
 

Melanie 

Karen and David Moore 
(ABar Bistro)  
 

Helen Joyce 

Waitrose (Southsea)  
 

Andy Lizzies Cake Factory  
 

Tesco (Fratton Park) 
 

David Polly Friedman  
 

Morrisons (Horndean) 
 

Carolyn  
 

Mr Purves  
 

Protyre (Hilsea)  
 

Claire Danielle  
 

Louise  
 

Kate  
 

Mike 
 

Sarah Dr Nina Burrowes  

Thank you to everyone who has provided professional support and expertise. 

Patrick Stratford 
(Accountant)  

The Really Helpful IT 
Company  

Paloma (Data Base) 

 
 

Phil Burner (Photography)  
 

Martin A Horton (MAH 
Associates)  

Thank you to our clinical supervisors. 

Mary Burner Stella Ridley Sandy Wilks 
Diane Mackay Liz Strain Helen Molden 
Maggie March Linda Ellis Anna Lane 
Dr. Marie-Anne Chidiac   

 

Thank you to all of our grant makers and partners for their ongoing support. 

   

 

And finally an enormous thank you to all of our amazing volunteers who have given their 

time, energy and skill to volunteer and support the work of PARCS and collectively 

transform the lives of survivors of abuse and their families. 

 

https://www.bing.com/images/search?q=portsmouth+city+council+logo&id=2FFA29C6CCD3AFD70262DA1B731CA083C0B82204&FORM=IQFRBA
https://www.bing.com/images/search?q=hampshire+county+council+logo&id=09878C32828343092EF16616DBB0C019A712A029&FORM=IQFRBA
https://www.bing.com/images/search?q=the+home+office+logo&id=0645F499BC15BB6CEFA417ACB20885BE134B8C87&FORM=IQFRBA
https://www.bing.com/search?q=IBM&filters=ufn:"IBM"+sid:"0564f4ea-7c88-479a-b43e-09106c4fa49a"&FORM=SNAPST
https://www.bing.com/images/search?q=ministry+of+justice+logo&id=8AB7561816A72551192F76CD04693418486CF9C8&FORM=IQFRBA
https://www.bing.com/images/search?q=children+in+need+logo&id=4FA0C88C0F9E471D4A9865FFFD548A523A73F0A4&FORM=IARRTH
https://www.bing.com/images/search?q=the+tudor+trust+logo&id=672E1CD0397B578CC5F7B10CA19F2377EE7CC5F1&FORM=IQFRBA
https://www.bing.com/images/search?q=lloyds+foundation+logo&id=84B3D931FD383B24F06D006A59DC1E0C13B7A946&FORM=IQFRBA

	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting - 8 August 2016
	4 A review into how well Portsmouth City Council and partners are preventing and dealing with child sexual exploitation

